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TRIBECA WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT BOUNDARIES

The Tribeca West Historic Distriet consists of the property bounded by
a line beginning at a point in the center of the intersection of Greenwich
Street and Hubert Street, extending southerly along a line extending down the
middle of the streetbed of Greenwich Street to a point in the center of the
intersection with Reade Street, easterly along a line extending down the
middle of the streetbed of Reade Street, northerly along a line extending
southerly from the western property line of 156 Reade Street, northerly aleng
the western property line of 156 Reade Street, easterly along the northern
property lines of 156 through 148 Reade Street, northerly along part of the
western property line of 146 Reade Street, easterly along the northern
property line of 146 Reade Street, southerly along part of the eastern
property line of 146 Reade Street, easterly along the southern property lines
of 172 and 170 Duane Street, northerly along part ¢f the eastern property line
of 170 Duane Street, easterly along part of the northern property line of
140-142 Reade Street and the northern property lines of 136 and 134 Reade
Street, southerly along the eastern property line of 134 Reade Street,
southerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern property line of
134 Reade Street to a point in the middle of the streethed of Reade Street,
easterly along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Reade
Street, southerly along a line extending northerly from the western curbline
of Hudson Street, southerly along the western curbline of Hudson Street,
southerly along a line extending southerly from the western curbline of Hudson
Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed of Chambers Street, easterly
along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Chambers Street to
a peoint in the center of the intersection with West Broadway, northerly along
a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of West Broadway to a point
in the center of the intersection with Thomas Street, westerly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of Thomas Street, northerly along
a2 line extending southerly from the eastern curbline of Hudson Street,
northerly along the eastern curbline of Hudson Street, northerly aleng a line
extending northerly from the eastern curbline of Hudson Street to a peint in
the middle of the streetbed of Worth Street, easterly along a line extending
down the middle of the streetbed of Worth Street, northerly along a line
extending southerly from the eastern property line of 7-13 Worth Street,
northerly along the eastern property lines of 7-13 Worth Street and 22 Leonard
Street, easterly along the southern curbline of Lecnard Street, easterly along
a line extending easterly from the southern curbline of Lecnard Street to a
point in the middle of the streetbed of West Broadway, northerly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of West Broadway to a peint in the
center of the intersection with North Moore Street, westerly aleng a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of North Moore Street to a point
in the center of the intersection with Varick Street, northerly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of Varick Street, westerly along
a line extending easterly from the northern curbline of Ericsson Place,

1



westerly along the northern curbline of Ericsson Place, northerly along the
eastern curbline of Hudson Street, westerly across Hudson Street along a line
extending easterly from a point in the middle of the streetbed of Hubert
Street, westerly along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of
Hubert Street, to the point of beginning.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On June 13, 1989, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public
hearing on the proposed designation of the Tribeca West Historic District
(Item No. 4). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the
provisions of law. Forty-eight people offered testimony at the public hearing
in favor of the proposed district, including representatives of Congressman
Ted Weiss, ©State Senator Manfred Ohrenstein, Assemblyman William F.
Passannante, Manhattan Borough President David N. Dinkins, Comptroller
Harrison J. Goldin, Councilwoman Miriam Friedlander, Community Board 1, the
Municipal Arts Society, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, the Historic
Districts Council, the Tribeca Community Association, the American Institute
of Architects Historic Buildings Committee, the Victorian Society in America
Metropelitan Chapter, and the Women's City Club of New York. A representative
of the Chambers Canal Civic Association spoke at the hearing in opposition to
the proposed district, while two people spoke against the inclusion of one
property in which they held an interest. The Commission has also received
several hundred letters and other expressions of support for the proposed
historic district; four owners of property within the proposed district sent
submissions expressing opposition to the inclusion of their properties within
the district.



INTRODUCTICN

The Tribeca West Historic bistrict, encompassing some 220 buildings,
extends northward from James Bogardus Triangle to Hudson Square with Hudson
Street serving as the spine of the district and Duane Park acting as a focal
point. West Broadway and Varick Street, histerically a major transportation
route, form the eastern boundary. Greenwich Street forms a regular edge at the
western boundary. Portions of Reade Street where corner buildings intersect
Hudson and Greenwich Streets form the southern boundary, while Hubert Street
and Ericsson Place, fronting onto the site of Hudson Square, form the northern
boundaries. Within this area much of the street grid is set askew from and
intersects with the grid of streets running off Broadway, a factor which
reinforces the special character of the area.

The Tribeca West Historic District takes its name from the acronym
TriBeCa, for Triangle Below Canal Street. Coined in the mid-1970s as the
result of City Planning studies and the adoption of a Special Lower Manhattan
Mixed Use District, the Tribeca name came to be applied to the area south of
Canal Street, between Broadway and West Street, extending south to Vesey
Street, which is larger than the =zoning district. The area of the Tribeca
West Historie District has a distinct and special character within the larger
Tribeca community which is defined by the district's historical development
as reflected in the plan of its streets and the architectural qualities of its
buildings.

Early in the nineteenth century as the area was initially developed, it
was a prime residential neighborhood concentrated around Duane Park and Hudson
Square (renamed St. John's Park with the construction of St. John's Chapel on
the east side of Varick Street). The basi¢ residential development pattern
did much to define the later architectural character of the area as it
established the street grid at right angles to Greenwich Street intersecting
with the street grid off Broadway, and fixed lot sizes for houses that were
later reflected in the lot sizes for commercial buildings. A number of
Federal-era houses, subsequently converted for commercial uses, remain in the
district.

By the mid-nineteenth century, with produce and other goods arriving at
the Washington Market, southwest of the area of the historic district, and the
transfer of goods facilitated by extensive ship and railroad service, the area
of the Tribeca West Historic District began to develop its dominant
architectural character. Houses were replaced by buildings constructed to
meet the changing needs and growing complexity of commerce, particularly
businesses associated with the food industry. Today the district is defined
and dominated by commercial buildings of the store and loft and warehouse
types, which provide a consistent architectural character although cne that
developed over a span of some fifty years, roughly 1860 through 1910. This
is the resunlt of a functional, yet decorative, approach to commercial
architecture which produced substantial and attractive buildings whose form
and appearance -- generated largely by the uses of the buildings -~ tended to
transcend the changing fashions of architectural style. Still, the buildings
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encompass a range of treatments: some are utilitarian and influenced by
longstanding wvernacular traditions; others are influenced by popular
architectural styles and ornament, consciously designed to be decorative in
appearance; and, late in the century, are those warehcuses reflecting
contemporary high-style architecture whose architects self-consciously sought
te devise an appropriate American architectural expression for the warehouse
as a discrete building type. Within the district these buildings are unified
by a similar scale; similar building materials, largely masonry in shades of
red, brown, and tan; and similar use-generated base treatments consisting of
cast-iron piers rising above stepped wvaults and loading platforms and
shelftered by awnings. Folding iron shutters and wood doors historically
filled the loading bay openings, and many of these elements still survive.
Granite-slab sidewalks and Belgian block street pavers are other unifying
elements which give the district much of its historic and architectural
character.

While businesses dealing in eggs, butter, and cheese predominated,
clients as diverse as flour wholesalers, fancygoods merchants, tobacconists,
and produce merchants commissicned and occupied store and loft buildings in
the district. Architects for this building type ranged from such
architect/builders as Bloodgood & Bloodgood to architects who specialized in
commercial architecture such as John B. Snook and his sons, Berger & Baylies,
Thomas R. Jackson, and William Graul. Warehouse constructien, which reached
its peak in numbers in the late 1880s and continued through the first decade
of the twentieth century, reflected the greater scale of commerce not only for
merchants of perishables but also for merchants requiring large amounts of
storage space such as grocery wholesalers. Cold storage warehouses, many of
them constructed for the Merchants' Refrigerating Company, are an important
variation of this building type within the district. Some of the city's most
prominent architects constructed warehouse buildings in the area of the
historic district, among them, Stephen D. Hatch, Charles C. Haight, Babb &
Cook, and Edward H. Kendall. The importance cof the food industry in the
history of Tribeca is exemplified by the construction in 1885 of the New York
Mercantile Exchange, 2-6 Harrison Street, designed by Thomas R. Jackson.
Founded in 1872 as the Butter and Cheese Exchange, reflecting the
concentration of these businesses in the area, it expanded by 1882 to include
dealers in groceries, dried fruits, poultry, and canned goods. The exchange
building, a specialized commercial building type, incorporates arcades
containing the double-height windows of the trading room, and its prominence
in the area is further emphasized by the picturesque entrance tower and hipped
roof,

West Broadway, which defines the eastern edge of the district, was a
major transportation route into the 1930s, a factor which helped to set off
the blocks to the west. Today the street is lined largely by store and loft
buildings, including No. 138 West Broadway, one of the rare cast-iron fronted
buildings in the district, and several prominent warehouse buildings,
including No. 110-116 (a/k/a 16 Hudson Street) and No. 220-224 (a/k/a 126-128
Franklin Street). At the south end of the district West Broadway begins at
James Bogardus Triangle, historically a transportation hub. West Broadway
leads into Varick Street which assumed its present character when the street
was widened in 1918. This street widening also resulted in the creation of
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Finn Square at the intersection of West Broadway, Varick, and Franklin
Streets. Varick Street contains two distinguisghed civic structures, the Hook
and Ladder Company No. 8 (1903, Alexander H. Stevens) at the intersection of
North Mocore Street and the former Fourth Police Precinct Station House (19512,
Hoppin & Koen) at the intersection of Ericsson Place, as well as the prominent
windowless cold storage warehouse for the Merchants' Refrigerating Co. (1924,
John B. Snook Sons).

Greenwich Street, originally on land owned by Trinity Church, was
historically the main north-south thoroughfare along the western side of the
isgland, and the blocks both to the east and west were developed beginning in
the mid-nineteenth century with commercial buildings of the store and loft and
warehouse types. Today the area of the historic district is divorced from the
Hudson River by modern development west of Greenwich Street, leaving the east
side of Greenwich as a reqular western edge for the historic district.
Greenwich Street is characterized by its store and loft buildings, many of
them dating from fairly early in the area's commercial development, several
Federal-era houses later converted for commercial use, and several prominent
warehouse buildings including No. 371-375 (1905, Joseph Wolf).

Hudson Streef, the spine of the district, begins at James Bogardus
Triangle, formed by the convergence of Hudson and West Broadway, which acts
as a gateway at the southern end of the historic distriect. As befits the role
Hudson Street plays in the district, it contains some of the district's most
impressive as well as most characteristiec buildings. These incliude the two
warehouses which begin the district, No. 19 (1885, George Martin Huss) and No.
16 (1873-74, Charles F. Mengelson); the Schepp Building (1880-81, Stephen D.
Hatch), which also fronts onto Dunane Park; the American Express Building
{1890-91, Edward Hale Kendall); the Pierce Building, later the Powell Building
(1890-92, Carrere & Hastings, 1905, enlarged by Henri Fouchaux), an early
office building; the Mercantile Exchange {1885, Thomas R. Jackson}, and New
York Hospital's House of Relief or Emergency Hospital (1893-94, Josiah C.
Cady). At the northern end of the district, Hudson Street fronts what was
cnce Hudson Square.

Ericsson Place, one of the northern boundaries of the district, alsc
fronts onte Budson Sqguare. It is dominated by the former Fourth Police
Precinct Station House and warehouses which form the complex of buildings
developed by the Merchants' Refrigerating Company. The roadbed itself
contains some of the district's most intact Belgian block street paving.

Hubert Street, the other northern boundary of the district, can be seen
as a divider marking the transition between the smaller warehouses and store
and loft buildings within the district and the larger, later warehouses
outside the district to the north which in their development pattern relate
more directly to the Hudson River Railroad Terminal,

The district's side streets -- Duane, Thomag, Jay, Worth, Harrison,
Leonard, Franklin, North Moore, and Beach -- have a consistent development
pattern and architectural character defined by store and loft buildings, many
of which were built in groups, and larger warehouse buildings. The scale,
forms, materials, and use-generated base treatments unify the streetscapes and

5



enhance the district's sense of place.

Duane Park is ancother major element which by its presence reinforces the
district's special sense of place. The park is formed as Duane Street splits
to encompass this small triangular park whose spatial quality is further
enhanced by the uniform street walls of the warehouse and store and loft
buildings surrounding it.

Further reinforcing the district's special sense of place are two small
alley-like streets -- Staple Street and Collister Street. Staple Street,
extending northward for two blocks from Duane Park and providing a striking
vista from the park, is fronted by the side or rear elevations of buildings
oriented to Hudson Street, Duane Street, Jay Street, or Harrison Street. No.
171 Duane Street is of special interest because its Staple Street elevation
reveals the evidence of two early nineteenth-century building campaigns.
North of Jay Street, Staple Street is spanned by a picturesque overhead bridge
linking New York Hospital's two buildings. Within the district Collister
Street extends for one block between Beach and Bubert Streets and also
provides a striking vista.

Marjorie Pearson



HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE TRIBECA WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

Early Development

The historical development of the Tribeca West Historic District is
characterized by a pattern of rapid development and redevelopment as
commercial pressures displaced residential neighborhoods and pushed the city's
urban limits nerthward. As a result the area became the leading district for
food wholesaling and related businesses in New York City from the late
nineteenth to the mid-twentieth century.’

Throughout the seventeenth and most of the eighteenth centuries, the
area of Tribeca West was open land, with a small stream located slightly north
of the district, running east on what is now Canal Street. Much of the land
at the western part of the district was held by Trinity Church, while much of
what is now the eastern part was swampland owned by Anthony Rutgers. In 1741,
Leonard Lispenard, a leaseholder of a large tract of land belonging to Trinity
Church, married Rutgers's daughter Elsie. In 1746, after Rutgers died, most
of his holdings went to his daughter and son-in-law and the large area to the
east became known as Lispenard Meadows.

As New York City's population grew following the Revoluticnary War, new
residential districts developed on the northern ocutskirts of the city, then
concentrated at the southern tip of Manhattan. By 1810 most of the streets
within the presentday district had been laid out.? The irregular street grid
found in the district is a result of individualized development plans by early
landowners who established their own street patterns with a minimal regard to
those of their neighbors. Trinity Church, the principal landowner of what is
now the western portion of the district, established a grid relating to the
shoreline and to Greenwich Street, which by the time of the Revolution wag the
main north-gouth thorocughfare along that side of the island. Greenwich Street
was named after its destination, Greenwich, the village which grew around --
and in turn was named after -- the mansion built by Admiral Sir Peter Warren.?3
To the east of Hudson, on Lispenard family land, the streets were oriented on
axis with Broadway, thus creating the unusual juncture of thoroughfares along
Hudson Street which effectively marked a boundary between the large tracts of
land. The names of the district's streets recall the early history of the
area. Leonard Lispenard named three streets after his children -- Thomas,
Leonard, and Anthony (now Worth Street). Several sireets cut through on land
belonging to Trinity Church were named after prominent parishioners, such as
James Duane, Joseph Reade, and Benjamin Moore. Streets were also named after

' Much of this account of Tribeca West's early development is based on
Andrew Scott Dolkart, The Texture of Tribeca (New York, 1989), 18-22.

2 Minutes of the Common Council of the Citv of New York, vol. 3, p. 1159,
1802, vol. 4, p. 709, 1808,

3 Albert Ulmann, A Landmark History of New York (New York, 1917), 262.
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prominent businessmen and political figures, including Jay (named after John
Jay, first Chief Justice of the United States, 1789-1795) and Franklin (named
after the prominent statesman Benjamin Franklin}. Hudsen Street was named for
the explorer Henry Hudson, and Varick Street's namesake was Colonel Richard
varick, Reveclutionary War patriot and mayor of New York from 1789 to 1801.%4

By the early nineteenth century, the first phase of urbanization in the
district was underway. In 1803 St. John's Chapel, designed by John McComb,
Jgr., and Isaac McComb, was begun by the Vestry of Trinity Church on Varick
Street between Beach and Laight Streets (just to the north of the historic
district).® The entire block west of the chapel, bounded by Varick, Beach
{now Ericsson Place), Hudson, and Laight Streets was turned into a park known
first as Hudson Square and later as St. John's Park.® As construction began
on the chapel, the Vestry auctioned off the lots facing the park which were
to be leased for ninety-nine years.’ In 1802 Trinity Church ceded to the city
the land on which the streets were cut through, and gave over park maintenance
to the residents around it. Develcpment on the lots was guided by restrictive
covenants which governed building height and materials. Prospective builders
objected to these restrictions and to the leasing system, however, and both
were appealed in 1823.8 At the same time, as development around St. John's
Park began in earnest, it was officially made private by Trinity Church. From
the 1820s to the 1840s the area surrounding St. John's Park was one of New
York's most sought-after residential enclaves with such notable residents as
William Paulding, mayor of New York from 1824 to 1826, and the Drake and
Delafield families. The polished elegance of St. John's Park, however, lasted
only one generation.

South of St. John's Park, the area of the district developed more
modestly, with twe-and-one-half and three-and-one-half-story brick or brick
and frame structures in the Federal style. As Trinity Church and other
landowners subdivided their land inte lots, individuals and speculators

4 see Dolkart, 19, and Henry Moscow, The Street Book: An Encyclopedia of
Manhattan's Street Names and Their Origin (New York, 1978).

> I.N. Phelps Stckes, Iconography of Manhattan Island, wvol. 5 (New York,
1915-28), wvaricus entries consulted from Apr 7, 1803 to Nov. 21, 1867; Donald
Presa, "West Tribeca Report [Historical Developmentl]," (typescript in the
research files of the New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission, 1989),
unpaginated [11); and Ira H. Goldman, Tribeca: Historical Aspects 1626-1974 (New
York, 1974), 7-10.

6 Maps drawn in 1776 and 1799 show North Moore Street as the southern
boundary of the proposed park. It was cut back to its subsequent boundaries by
the time the chapel was completed. See Plan of the City of New York, map drawn
by Major Holland in 1776 and published in Moses King, King's Handbook of New York
City (Boston, 1893), 12, and Casimir Goerck and Joseph Mangin, Plan of the City
of New York, map drawn in 1799 and published in 1803. Reproduction in the
collection of the Landmarks Preservation Commission.

7 stokes, Apr. 7, 1803, Feb. 9, 1804.

B Stokes, vol. 5§, 1635.



erected these houses, typical of those built for middle-class New Yorkers at
the time. Most of the development on land held by Trinity Church was
completed by lessees; the church sold much of its holdings by 1830. Buildings
associated with residential neighborhoeds, such as stables and blacksmith
shops, appeared on alleys such as Staple and Collister streets and on east-
west streets such as Thomas. Churches, such as the Methodist Episcopal Church
at 178-182 Duane Street (constructed in the late 1790s, demolished) were built
to serve local residents. A surviving dwelling from this period at 331
Greenwich Street, later altered for commercial use, is typical of the
structures built in the area at that time. The neighborhood did not remain
solely residential for long; in the 1830s and 1840g it began to become
commercial, aided by the development of marketplaces and extensive
improvements in transportation.

Markets and Transpoertation

As early as 1771 a market, known as the Bear Market, had existed to the
south of what is now the district on the west side of Greenwich Street between
Fulton and Vesey Streets. This market was an outlet for farmers from New
Jersey to sell their produce.

The development of the waterfront on the west side of Manhattan was
crucial to the city's mercantile expansion, Following the War of 1812 and the
regpening of Atlantic trade routes and the completion in 1825 of the Erie
Canal which connected New York to the interior, the city grew into the
country’'s major port and trading center. In the late 1830s piers were
constructed on the west side of Manhattan at the end of every street between
Vesey and King Streets.? By the 1840s New York was rapidly rising to
preeminence as the country's leading commercial hub. As the nineteenth
century progressed, longer ships were constructed for commercial purposes.
These ships could not easgily navigate the East River and the longer piers
needed to accommecdate them were constructed on the deeper Hudson River.
Freight traffic arriving at these piers, which were often owned by railrecad
companies, made New York City the center of American trade for such goods as
tobacco, imported woods, coffee, and spices.

As the area to the east of the district developed into a prominent dry
goods center, the area within the district and teo the west was transformed
inte a wholesale center for dairy goods and produce as well as the less
perishable gocds mentioned above. The development of markets for perishable
goods was facilitated by the close proximity of docks (and later trains on the
north-south thoroughfares) that enabled these commodities to be moved quickly.
The Bear Market was replaced in 1812 by the Washington Market. Another market
existed at the end of Duane Street in the first decades of the nineteenth
century., This market, started by New Jersey dairy farmers in an attempt to
make Duane Street the central market for butter and eggs in New York, failed
due to competition from Washington Market and the Duane Street Market's

° A general account of Manhattan's commercial waterfreonts may be found in

Ann C. Buttenwieser, Manhattan Water-Bound (New York, 1987), especially pp. 39-50
and 75,




greater distance from the Hoboken Ferry slip. By the early 1830s it was no
longer in business. The Washington Market, however, expanded in 1843, 1847,
and 1853. Businesses dealing in fresh foods occupied the surrounding streets,
quickly spreading north to the area now within the district. Many local food
businesses had outlets at the market. By the early 1880s the Washington
Market had become New York's major wholesale and retail produce cutlet,

Wholesale businesses opened at 2:00 a.m. at the market when food items
were brought in from New Jersey and upstate New York. Buyers from food stores
would arrive shortly thereafter, and at dawn buyers would appear from hotels
and restaurants.'® A wide wvariety of foods were sold at the market,
including imported cheeses, quail, sguabs, wild ducks, swordfish, frogs' legs,
pompanocs, codfish tongues and cheeks, and venison and bear steaks.!! In
contrast to the Washington Market, many of the food businesses in what is now
the district were run by Jjobbers and wholesalers who brought in goods,

processed them, and shipped them out again to other markets via water or rail
lines.

The development of railroads on the west side of Manhattan, begun in the
late 18405, fueled the commercial economy in the Tribeca area, adding to the
diversity of businesses. Beginning in 1847, the Hudson River Railrcad Company
(incorporated in 1846) operated freight lines along Tenth, Eleventh, and
Twelfth Avenues south to Canal Street. In 1849 the company ran a line scuth
on Hudson Street, terminating at a station on Chambers Street. At that time
freight 1lines were run by "drays," which were f£reight cars pulled by
horses.'? 1In 1853, the railroad bridge over Spuyten Duyvil creek opened,
allowing trains to run without a water transfer from Manhattan to upstate New
York along the east side of the Hudson River. Freight from what is now the
Tribeca West area was transferred from drays to trains pulled by steam
locomotives at a station at West 30th Street. In 1867 Trinity Church and the
owners of the houses facing St. John's Park sold the park to Commodore
Cornelius Vanderbilt as the site for the large Hudson River Railrcad Freight
Terminal.'® After the terminal opened in 1867 the company closed its freight
line on Hudson Street. Local shipping was subsequently handled by individuals
and larger organizations such as the American Express Company, which had a
depot and stables on the site of the present building at 55-61 Hudson Street.
In 1869 the Hudson River Railroad merged with the New York Central Railrocad

10 "gnon It'1ll be Most Modern of All Marts," New York World-Telegram, Sept.

22, 1945, p. 8 and William H. Rideing, "How New York is Fed," Scribner’'s Monthly
14, (Qct., 1877), 729-743.

" Works Progress Administration, New York City Guide (New York, 1939), 74.

12 Tom Flagg, phone conversation, March 21, 1991.

13 The sale was conducted under an agreement signed in 1827 which Trinity
Church had made with the property owners facing St. John's Park. It stated that
the church had to have the consent of two-thirds of the owners of the sixty-four
lots surrounding the park before selling it. See New York County, Office of the

Register, Liber Deeds and Conveyances, liber 1003, pp. 357-361, and Stokes, vol.
&, 519.
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to form the New York Central & Hudson River Railrcad. These developments had
the effect of accelerating commercial growth in what had once been one of New
York's most prestigious neighborhoods.14

The area's commercial vitality was enhanced by the development of the
north-south thoroughfares inte transportation corridors for passenger traffic.
In 1867-68 rail service on Greenwich Street was further developed when the
West Side & Yonkers Patent Railway Company erected tracks for an elevated
cable car system. Regular passenger service began in 1870 from Dey Street to
the terminus at Ninth Avenue and West 29th Street. The enterprise was
auctioned off to the New York Elevated Railroad Company, which eventually
changed its name to the Metropolitan Railroad Company and erected ancther line
on West Broadway to accommodate increasing passenger traffic. The elevated
railway had a station on the south side of Chambers Street at the intersection
of West Broadway and Hudson. !5

The Burgeoning Development of Tribeca West

By the mid-nineteenth century, with produce and other goods arriving at
the Washington Market and the transfer of goods facilitated by extensive ship
and railroad service, the area of the Tribeca West Historic Distriet began to
develop its present architectural character. The first sign of change had
been the conversion of the first stories of many residences to commercial use.
The upper stories of these houses often became tenements and boarding houses.
Early buildings constructed for specifically commercial uses, such as the
store and loft building at 155 Duane Street (1830-31), also began to appear.
In the 1850s and 1860s the area around Duane Park was transformed by
commercial development. Fueled by the rapidly-growing food and importing
industries and 1light manufacturing, the bulk of commercial building
construction in the area of the district started in the late 1870s, following
recovery from the financial Panic of 1873, and continued until the Depression.
Many of these buildings were developed by local merchants and designed by
well-known architects.

The most prevalent building type within the district is the steore and
loft building. This type, usually four to seven stories high, typically had
a receiving and sales area on the first story, offices on the second, and
storage or light manufacturing above. These buildings were often constructed
by wholesalers of eggs, cheese, or produce, who were frequently the first
occupants of the building, although others built on speculation were devoted
to similar uses. Since dairy products could not be stored for extended
pericds of time, wholesalers of such goods did not keep large inventories and
therefore did not need the kind of large general purpose warehouses that would
appear beginning in the 1880s. Most store and loft buildings were designed

' In 1918-19 St. John's Chapel and the remaining houses were demolished for
the widening of Varick Street. The freight terminal was demolished in the mid-
1930s; the Holland Tunnel exit plaza is now located there. See Nathan Silver,
Lost New York (New York, 1972), 152.

> A photograph of the Chambers Street station appears in Carl W. Condit,
The Port of New York 2 wols. (Chicageo, 1980), 36.
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with ornament reflecting current architectural styles, although many present
a more utilitarian appearance in keeping with their function, and used cast-
iron bay framing at the ground story to allew large openings for the leading
and unleoading of goods.

The first sustained building campaign of store and loft buildings began
in the 1850s and was concentrated in the southern part of the district. As
food wholesalers, grocery importers, and packers began moving into the area
with the expansion of the Washington Market, store and loft buildings appeared
on the streets close to Duane Park. The group of four five-story buildings
at Nos. 176 to 182 Duane Street {1868-69) is an early example of the
¢ollaboration of prominent merchant clients with notable architects. The
Duane Street buildings, which display the earliest use of neo-Grec ornament
in the district, were designed by prolific architect John B. Snook for the
children of Peter Lorillard. These buildings were constructed in association
with the Lorillard family's successful snuff and tobacco business,
illustrating an early example of mercantile diversity in the district that
became more prenounced in the coming decades. Later in the nineteenth century
many of the buildings surrounding Duane Park and on nearby streets were
occupied by butter, eggs, and cheese merchants as the area's inportance
increased as a center of dairy wholesaling. At present, these businesses
continue to operate in the buildings on the south side of the park.

Clients as diverse as flour wholesalers, fancygoeds merchants, and
tobacconists commissioned and occupied store and loft buildings in the
district. Berger & Baylies, a prolific firm noted for its commercial work,
was commissioned by such clients to design store and loft buildings at 184-186
Duane Street (1881-82) and 14 Jay Street (1882); by the early twentieth
century they were occupied by grocers and butter and eggs merchants. In the
1890s, Edwin M, Harrison, a preduce and eggs wholesaler with several coffices
in New York, developed or added onto seven buildings on nearby Greenwich and
Harrison Streets, three in association with architect Alexis R. McIlvaine,
By the 1870s, store and loft buildings were beginning te dot the northern
section of the distriect as well. A notable group are the three buildings at
Nos. 23 to 27 Leonard Street {1876-77), designed by architect John G. Prague,
who is usually associated with his residential designs on Manhattan's Upper
East and West Sides, for Walter B, Lawrence, a member of the Board of
Gavernors of the New York Stock Exchange. Older builidings that were converted
to commercial use at this time, such as No. 331 Greenwich Street, received
cast-iron bay framing at the ground story.

The importance of the produce industry in the history of Tribeca is
exemplified by the construction of the New York Mercantile Exchange at 2-6
Harrison Street (1885, Thomas R. Jackson).16 Originally called the Butter
and Cheese Exchange, it was organized in 1872 by local merchants, reflecting
the concentration of these businesses in the area. By 1882, as diverse new
businesses entered the area, the Exchange expanded to include dealers in

'® See A History of Commerce at the New York Mercantile Exchange: The
Centennial of the Mercantile Building 1884-1984 (New York, 1984), guoted in
Dolkart, 40.
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groceries, dried fruits, poultry, and canned goods, and its name was
officially changed to the New York Mercantile Exchange. Other businesses
associated with the expansion of commerce in the late 1870s and 1880s included
coffee and spice wholesalers, meat-packers, biscuit and cracker bakers,
confectioners, and manufacturers of paper paste and glue.

Paper-making and related industries established a foothold in the
digtrict by the last decade of the nineteenth century. D.S5. Walton & Co.,
America's largest manufacturer of printed wrapping paper, occupied a large
store and factory building at 1-9 Varick Street (Albert Wagner) as early as
1888. Paper-making continued in the area into the twentieth century; in the
1920s the John F. BSarle Company constructed a three-stery factory building
specifically for paper manufacturing at 46-50 Hudson Street (1925, William F,
Hemstreet).

The processed meat industry was located in the district by the early
1880s. The six-story store and loft building at 155-159 Framnklin Street
(1882, George W. DaCunha) was constructed for Augustus C. Beckstein, a
merchant of sausages and casings. Beckstein expanded in 1909-10, when he
developed the adjacent ten-story Franklin-Hudson Building, an office, store
and loft building at 96-100 Hudson Street (Alexander Baylies). Several
buildings in the district were leased to meat-processing plants around the
turn of the century, including the six-story store and loft building at 173-
175 Duane Street (1879-80, Babb & Coock), which was converted in 1900 by the
legsee Armour of Chicago.

The confection trade was also well-represented within the district.
Henry Heide, a German immigrant who became a leader in the industry, developed
three buildings in the area. The earliest was the five-story store and loft
building at 14-16 Harrison Street (1882, Gecorge DaCunha). As his business
prospered, he developed two more store and loft buildings side-by-side at 179
Franklin Street (1888, Havilah M. Smith & Son) and 181-183 Franklin Street
{1891-92, Hugo Kafka). Candy manufacturing was undertaken in the northern
section of the district by George Anspach who was one of the first tenants at
64-66 North Moore Street (1889-90, William Graul). One of the most notable
buildings associated with the candy industry was the Pierce Building (1890-92)
at 105-09 Hudson Street, designed by the nationally known firm of Carrere &
Hastings. It was named for Henry L. Pierce, who was president of Walter Baker
& Co., a cocoa business, and served two terms as mayor of Boston (1872 and
1877) and two terms as a member of Congress (18?3~?7)J7 In 1905, the
building was enlarged by architect Henry Fouchaux and the name of the building
was changed to the Powell Building after Ida May Powell, a confections
wholesaler, who was the owner during the second construction campaign.

Developers Joseph and Henry Naylor were particularly actiwve within the
district, erecting seven buildings between 1873 and 1886. Joseph Naylor,

7 Massachusetts, vols. 72, 84 pp. 432, 429, R.G. Dun & Co. Collection,
Baker Library, Harvard University Graduate School of Business Administration, and
"Pierce, Henry Lillie," Dictionary of American Biography, wvol. 7, ed. Dumas
Malone (New York, 1934}, 582-583.
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recorded as the architect of store and loft buildings at 9 Worth Street (1873)
and 22 Leonard Street {(1873-74), was a building contractor and inwvestor in
commercial real estate.’® In 1859 he had formed the firm of Joseph Naylor
& Company with his son, Henry. Together they owned over a dozen commercial
properties in lower Manhattan. Henry is documented as the owner of four
buildings in the digtrict at 9, 11, and 13 Worth Street (1873} and 22 Lecnard
Street. During the early 1880s the firm dissolved, but both Joseph and Henry
continued to invest in real estate. During the mid-1880s Joseph erected
buildings at 53-55 Beach Street (1885) and 405 Greenwich Street (1886), the
two final bhuildings associated with the Naylors in the district.

In asscociation with the increase in commerce beginning in the late
1870s, a significant building type to emerge around 1880 was the warehouse.
Its evolution from the store and loft building reflects the greater scale of
commerce not only for produce merchants but also for merchants requiring large
amounts of storage space such as grocery wholesalers, whose products (canned
foods, spices) were not perishable and could be stored for long periods of
time. Warehouse construction reached its peak in numbers in the late 1880s
and continued through the first decade of the twentieth century.

An early example of warehouse construction in the district is the Schepp
Building at 47-53 Hudson Street. This ten-story building, designed by Stephen
Decatur Hatch, was constructed in 1880-81 for Leopold Schepp, a naticnally-
known spice and food importer who introduced to this country the exotic
product of dried coconut. The Schepp Building contained offices, a warehouse,
and a factory, and illustrates the continuing pattern in the district, begun
in the late 1860s, of important clients working with noted architects.

The six-story structure at 117-119 Hudson Street is ancther notable
warehouse in the district. Commissioned in 1888 by local grocery merchant and
real estate developer John Castree, it was designed by the architect of the
Mercantile Exchange, Thomas R. Jackson, who designed several buildings in the
immediate area, including the similar building to the north at 121 Hudson
Street (1891). The functional design of the bases of these buildings, with
cast-iron bay framing originally filled only with folding iron shutters below
glass transoms with grilles, was dictated by their original use, which was the
temporary storage of perishable foods. In a pattern repeated elsewhere in the
northern section of the district, these structures later contained businesses
that dealt with less-perishable items. In the early twentieth century, for
example, No. 117-119 Hudson Street housed such tenants as a dye firm, a drug
company, and a chemical company.

An important variation of the warehouse type within the district is the
cold storage warehouse. By the end of the nineteenth century refrigeration
technology had advanced to the point that these special-purpose facilities
were constructed in the area to aid nearby dairy and produce businesses in
preserving their perishable goods by supplying them with cooled brine. The

'® Information concerning the Naylors is from New York vol. 316A, 383, pp.
107, 111, 529, R.G. Dun & Co. Collection, Baker Library, Harvard University
Graduate School of Business Administration.
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most notable refrigerating business in the district was the Merchants'
Refrigerating Company which developed an extensive cemplex of buildings on the
block bounded by Ericsson Place, Hudson, North Moore, and Varick Streets. The
complex included three cold storage warehouses on North Moore Street, No. 35-
37 (1891, Thomas R. Jacksen), No. 27-29 (1905, william H. Birkmire), and No.
17-25 (1924, John B. Snook Sons), all designed by architects who were
authorities on the erection of commercial buildings.

A major private developer in the district was the Protestant Episcopal
Society for the Promotion of Religion and Learning in the State of New York,
an educational and charitable organization within Trinity Church. The church
granted land in what is now the district to the Society, which in turn leased
it to developers.19 The Society was active within the district from the late
1850e to the 1930s, developing nine buildings for commercial purposes. Four
of them, all located on the same block bounded by North Moore, Greenwich,
Beach, and Hudson Streets, were designed by architect Charles C. Haight, most
often noted for his institutional work. Haight, whose father was a rector of
Trinity Church, was a member of the Board of Directors of the Protestant
Episcopal Society.

The City of New York constructed several public buildings in the
district teo provide services necessary to support local businesses and
residents. Spanning almost five decades, these included the Italianate style
Fifth Precinct Police Station at 19%-21 Leocnard Street (1868, Nathaniel D.
Bush), the firehouse at 173 Franklin Street (1881-82, Napoleon Le Brun & Son)
which displays neo-Grec and Queen Anne elements, and the neo-Renaissance style
Fourth Police Precinct Station House (now the First Police Precinct Station
House) at 16-20 Ericsson Place (1912, Hoppin & Koen). Workers drawn by the
commercial growth of the area were housed in a number of tenements erected
from the 1870s to the 1890s, several of which survive, including 184 Franklin
Street (1874, William Jose) and 18 North Moore Street (18%4, George F.
Pelham).

Tall Office Buildings and the Last Major Phase of Development

The last major phase of development in the district, begun in the late-
nineteenth century, involved the erection of tall cffice buildings. Most are
located on the major north-south thoroughfares. Many of the businesses
located in these buildings were directly connected to those traditionally
found in the area. One of the area's earliest office buildings, the American
Express Building at 55-61 Hudson Street (1890-91), was designed by the
nationally-known architect Edward Hale Kendall, The American Express Company,
which began operations as a mail delivery firm working between Albany and
Buffale, had been located on the site since the mid-nineteenth century,
providing dray teams for local freight shipping. The twelve-story office and

13 The Charter and By-Laws & Deeds of Endowment of Protestant Episcopal
Society for the Promotion of Religion & Learning in the State of New York (New
York, 1862).
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loft building at 25 Hudson Street (1910-11, Rouse & Goldstone), housed local
newspapers and a printing plant for many years.

A small group of tall office and factory buildings were constructed
at the onset of the Depression. The fourteen-story factory at 145 Hudson
Street (1929) was designed by the prolific firm of Renwick, Aspinwall & Guard
for the Vivian Green Company which leased the site from Trinity Church. The
gsixteen-gtory Maltz-Franklin Building at 93-101 Hudson Street (1930, Victor
Mayper) was developed as an office building on land leased from the Protestant
Episcopal Scciety. One of the final tall office buildings constructed in the
district is at 335-337 Greenwich Street (1930-31, Cross & Cross), a thirteen-
story structure which was occupied by the Central Hanover Bank & Trust Company
for many years.

Little changed in the area of the Tribeca West Historic District between
the Depression and the 1970s. The neighborhood reached its peak in total
volume as a market for dairy and produce wheolesalers in the 1930s and 1940s;
over ninety percent cof the butter, eggs, cheese, and cother fresh food items
consumed in metropolitan New York passed through this area.?d 1In 1940, the
Washington Market was modernized; it survived until the early 1960s, when the
City moved its major food market to Hunt's Point in the Bronx.%! Although
a2 number of dairy wholesalers and related businesses remain, their presence
was much reduced when the Washington Market c¢losed. Unfavorable tax
structures and the rise in business conglomerates added to the decline of
traditional businesses in the area.?? The planning in the late 1960s and
construction in the 1970s of urban renewal projects such as the Borough of
Manhattan Community Cocllege and the Independence Plaza apartment complex to
the west of the district severed the relationship shared by the east-west
streets and the Hudson River piers. Beginning in the 1970s, artists began to
locate in wvacated loft spaces in the district, the continuation of a trend
which had begun further north in the SoHo area. In 1976 the City Planning
Commission proposed a Special Lower Manhattan Mixed Use Distriet ("LMM"), a
zoning designation like that established in SoHo, which allowed for
residential lofts and light manufacturing in the same area.?® The affected
district, as adopted by the City Planning Commission, is a roughly triangular
area south of Canal Street, bounded by West Broadway and Greenwich Street,
extending as far south as Murray Street, with extensicons north of Walker and
Hubert Streets to Broadway and West Street, respectively.“‘ The acronym
TriBeCa, for Triangle Below Canal Streeft, was coined and the name came to be

20 william Strong, "Melting Away-The Butter, Eggs, and Cheese Market," World
Trade Community News, March 16-29, 1976, p. 6.

2 pemolition of the market and surrounding buildings took place in the late
1960s; the site of the Washington Market is now partially occupied by the World
Trade Center,

22 Strong, p. 7.
23 NYC, City Planning Commission, Manhattan, Calendar, Jan. 28, 1976.
24 NYC, City Planning Commission, Z2oning Map, 12a and 12b.
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applied to an area larger than the zoning district, extending east to Broadway
and south to Vesey Street.?®> This was followed in the late 1970s and early
1980s by the conversion of store and loft buildings to residential
cooperatives. In association with this sharp rise in residential use in the
district, many of the ground stories of these buildings have been turned into
retail and restaurant space, adding a new vibrancy to what was once New York's
most important food commodity, produce, and dairy wholesaling distriet.

Kevin McHugh

®5 Grace Glueck, "Art People," New York Times, April 30, 1976, p. C15.
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ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT CF THE TRIBECA WEST HISTCORIC DISTRICT

Intreoduction

The Tribeca West Historic District is dominated by commercial buildings
erected in the second half of the nineteenth century. As noted by the New
York City Superintendent of Buildings as early as 1866, merchants sought to
make buildings such as these "not only substantial in character, but
ornamental in appearance.“26 The dominant architectural character of the
Tribeca West Historic District is the result of this functicnal, yet
decorative approach to commercial architecture, which produced substantial and
attractive buildings whose form and appearance tended to transcend the
changing fashions of architectural style. The specific style of such
buildings was secondary to the building program and overall exterior effect,
resulting in structures of similar scale whose contiguous cast-iron bases and
masonry upper stories form visually coherent streetscapes. Within the context
of commercial architecture, the buildings in Tribeca West encompass a range
of treatments: there are those strictly utilitarian, plain in appearance and
influenced by longstanding vernacular traditions; there are those influenced
by popular architectural styles and ornament, consciously designed to be
decorative in appearance; and there are those which are elegant in appearance,
reflecting contemporary high-style architecture. &s a group, the buildings
in the district display durable, high-quality materials, a palette of mostly
red brick with stone and terra-cotta trim, and modest use of architectural
ornament. They form an ensemble of functional yet decorative buildings, the
original uses of which remain evident due %o their remarkably intact
condition.

The largest group of commercial buildings is composed of the store and
loft type, executed in a range of architectural treatments. This multi-
purpose building type eveolved in the nineteenth century to accommodate a
variety of functions -- including retail and wheolesale operations, light
manufacturing and processing operations, and offices -- made necessary by the
enormous growth and increasing complexity of commerce in MNew York City. Such
businesses, especially those associated with the food industry, were located
in the area immediately north of the Washington Market, in what is now the
Tribeca West Historic District, and housed in store and loft buildings erected
from about 1850 te 1910. From arcound 1880 until around 1910, in response to
changing demands in mercantile operations, warehouse buildings were erected
in the district, mostly in the northern section. The warehouse, a larger and
nore specialized descendant of the store and loft building, is distinguished
by its impressive scale and bulk. The exterior treatment of the typical
warehouse built in the district incorporates multi-story arcades. There are
alse a number of more specialized commercial buildings represented in the
district, including a mercantile exchange, office buildings, factories, a
parking garage, and small commercial buildings.

26

1866 Annual Report of the Superintendent of Buildings, New York City,
p. 211.
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There are several reminders of the district's pre-commercial era, when
it was a residential neighborhood extending from Duane Park to St. John's
Park. A number of Federal-era houses, subsequently converted for commercial
uses, remain in the district. The continued mixed use of the neighborhood
until the late nineteenth century is documented by the presence of several
tenement buildings with commercial bases which were erected from the 1870s
through the 1880s.

The instituticonal and public buildings in the district, many of which
are prominently sited on corner lots, establish a civic presence. The pelice
stations and firehouses of different eras illustrate the changing nature of
civic architecture. Hospital buildings and an unusual municipal utility
office building are less typical examples of public building design.

Architects and Builders

The architecture of the Tribeca West Historic District was the work of
a diverse group of architects and builders whe are identifiable since most of
the buildings post-date the establishment of the Department of Buildings in
the mid-1860s. The architects of record for the more utilitarian buildings
in the district are, for the most part, not among the roster of prominent
architects working in the city. They include architects based in New Jersey,
working for clients who were fellow New Jersey residents, and architects, such
as J. Morgan Slade, who subseguently and simultaneously designed more high-
style buildings. Architect/builders working in the district included Matthew
A. Ryan who designed and built 17 Hubert Street and 185 Franklin Street and
the firm of Bloodgood & Bloodgood responsible for 177 and 179 Duane Street,
as well as those based in the area like Havilah M. Smith whose carpenter shop
was located at 35 North Moore Street. Some buildings were designed by the
property owners, such as William Livingston who is the architect of record for
his building at 387-391 Greenwich Street.

Store and loft buildings in the district were largely the work of
architects who gpecialized in commercial architecture, as well as well-known
architects for whom commercial work was a portion of their practice. The
former group includes those responsible for multiple buildings in the
district, such as John BE. Snock and his sons, J. Morgan Slade, Berger &
Baylies, and William Graul.

Within the district is a substantial body of work of Thomas R. Jackson,
who specialized in commercial architecture in the late nineteenth century.
His work includes store and loft buildings, warehouses, and the notable
Mercantile Exchange Building. Many of them incorporate arcading as a design
scheme. Charles C. Haight, most often associated with his institutional work,
designed several warehouses in the district around the turn of the century
which are studies in abstracted arcaded forms and Renaissance-inspired
ornament. [For more information on the professional backgrounds of the
architects active in the district, see the Architects Appendix.]

One of the most prolific builders in the district was Hugh Getty, who
erected nine buildings in the district from 1885 to 1905, several of which
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were designed by Thomas Jackson. Getty also owned and developed two
properties, 38-40 Nerth Mcore Street (1902) and 16-18 Jay Street (1907), with
identical facades designed by Franklin Baylies. Getty began his career in New
York City as a carpenter in 1872 and by the late 1870s he was weorking as a
builder and general contracter. His most prestigious contracts included those
for the Hotels Vendome and Marlborough and residences on Fifth Avenue. By the
early years of the twentieth century, Getty had become president of Hugh
Getty, Inc., a firm continued after his death in 1922 by his sons. From 1916
to 1918 Getty served as president of the Building Trades Employer's
Association.

Building Types

The Store and Loft Building: Definitions and Characteristics

The term "store and loft" has a nineteenth-century origin based on the
use of terms that have since changed in meaning.?’” In the mid-nineteenth
century the verb "to store" had much the same meaning as it has today, while
the noun "store" was a collective term for a quantity of things stored or
transported together. By the late nineteenth century, the nouns stere and
storehouse were in common usage to mean a place where supplies were kept for
future use. 8tore had come alsc to mean a place where goods are sold; the
construction of buildings for this specific use began in the mid-nineteenth
century, and during that time, in the United States, the term store gradually
replaced the British term “shop" for such a place. The term "shop" had
traditionally described a facility where wares were both made and displayed
for sale; in the United States "shop" usually has been associated with
industrial rather than sales-coriented facilities, i.e. the carpenter shop and
the machine shop.

The term "loft"™ had, early in the nineteenth century, meant a crude,
often unheated, upper story where work, such as sailmaking, was undertaken.
By the end of the nineteenth century, "loft" denoted an upper story of a
warehouse, commercial building, or factory, as well as a partial upper area,
such as a hay loft. The uses of these loft floors were varied and included
storage, light manufacturing, showrooms, and offices. The general usage of
the term "loft" to mean a manufacturing left is a twentieth-century
development.

Other terms used to classify commercial buildings in New York City were
"first-," "second-," and "third-class" stores, which were codified when the
New York City Department of Buildings was founded in the mid-1860s. "First-
class" stores were large commercial buildings of the best quality materials
and included those with iron and stone facades. "Second-class' stores were

27 The definitions in this section were based on entries in the Dictionary
of the English Language (London, 1863); William Dwight Whitney, The Century
Dictionary (New York, 1911); and Russell Sturgis, A Dictionary of Architecture
and Building, vel. 3 (1902, rpt. Detroit, 1966).
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rough but substantially constructed buildings which were used for steorage,
retail, and light manufacturing, as well as smaller structures such as butcher
shops and milk depots. "Third-class" stores were one-story shed-like
structures, most of which were located near piers.28 Almost all of the store
and loft buildings erected within the Tribeca West area were built as "first-
class™ stores.

The typical store and loft building is five stories in height, twenty-
five or fifty-feet in width, and has a facade composed of a cast-iron framed
base and brick upper stories with stone elements. The store and leoft building
in Manhattan was a product of the evolving City building codes which regulated
the size of buildings and construction methods. The code of 1866 required
that the walls of buildings used for storage be four inches thicker than
required for other buildings. This requirement for thick exterior walls,
coupled with the provision in the codes, which first appeared in 1862, that
allowed the specified wall thickness requirements to be met in piers or
buttresses, with a thinner wall between these members, surely influenced the
use of piers and recessed spandrels to form the walls of commercial buildings.
The code of 1871 set the basic requirement for a fireproof partition wall
every twenty-five feet in larger buildings. This provision prompted
developers to construct groups of narrow, separate buildings which often
appear as a single structure; wider piers and walls between windows, however,
reveal the location of the intericr partition walls. The maximum width of a
building constructed with interior columnsg rather than partition walls was set
at fifty feet in 1871 and changed to seventy-five feet in 1882.2°

Though most buildings in the district are not of heavy mill
construction, they were built in a substantial manner, incorporating changing
building technologies. During the mid-nineteenth century the store and loft
buildings were typically constructed with cast-~iron columns in rows
perpendicular to the facade and yellow pine girders and beams in the mid-
nineteenth century. In many of the buildings, these cast-iron columns remain
in gitu, As the use ¢of rolled iron and steel support elements became more
commonly used in building censtruction in the later years of the nineteenth
century, these elements were used in store and loft buildings to create
structures which could support larger ficor loads. Vertical circulation in
the buildings was provided via stairs located against one of the side walls;
goods were first moved vertically through open hoist-ways, and later via
elevators. At the rear of the first story there is typically a one-story
extensicon to the lot line with a shed roof formed of skylights.

By the mid-nineteenth century the store and lecft building typically had
a trabeated, cast-iron framed one-story base in which piers supported a lintel
and bays were filled with paneled wood doors, show windows, transoms, and

28 annual Report of the Superintendent of Buildings {(New York City, 1867),
290, 295.

28 New York City Building Codes: 1862, Chapter 356 of the Laws of New York;
1866, Chapter 873 of the Laws of New York; 1871, Chapter 625 of the Laws of New
York; 1882, Chapter 410 of the Laws of New York.
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